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criminal drug statutes occurring in the 
workplace as to indicate that the con-
tractor has failed to make a good faith 
effort to provide a drug-free workplace 
(see 23.504); 

(5) Intentionally affixing a label 
bearing a ‘‘Made in America’’ inscrip-
tion (or any inscription having the 
same meaning) to a product sold in or 
shipped to the United States or its out-
lying areas, when the product was not 
made in the United States or its out-
lying areas (see Section 202 of the De-
fense Production Act (Public Law 102– 
558)); 

(6) Commission of an unfair trade 
practice as defined in 9.403 (see section 
201 of the Defense Production Act (Pub. 
L. 102–558)); 

(7) Delinquent Federal taxes in an 
amount that exceeds $3,000. See the cri-
teria at 9.406–2(b)(1)(v) for determina-
tion of when taxes are delinquent; or 

(8) Knowing failure by a principal, 
until 3 years after final payment on 
any Government contract awarded to 
the contractor, to timely disclose to 
the Government, in connection with 
the award, performance, or closeout of 
the contract or a subcontract there-
under, credible evidence of— 

(i) Violation of Federal criminal law 
involving fraud, conflict of interest, 
bribery, or gratuity violations found in 
Title 18 of the United States Code; 

(ii) Violation of the civil False 
Claims Act (31 U.S.C. 3729–3733); or 

(iii) Significant overpayment(s) on 
the contract, other than overpayments 
resulting from contract financing pay-
ments as defined in 32.001; or 

(9) Commission of any other offense 
indicating a lack of business integrity 
or business honesty that seriously and 
directly affects the present responsi-
bility of a Government contractor or 
subcontractor. 

(b) Indictment for any of the causes 
in paragraph (a) above constitutes ade-
quate evidence for suspension. 

(c) The suspending official may upon 
adequate evidence also suspend a con-
tractor for any other cause of so seri-
ous or compelling a nature that it af-
fects the present responsibility of a 

Government contractor or subcon-
tractor. 

[48 FR 42142, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 54 
FR 4968, Jan. 31, 1989; 55 FR 21707, May 25, 
1990; 59 FR 11373, Mar. 10, 1994; 61 FR 2633, 
Jan. 26, 1996; 61 FR 69291, Dec. 31, 1996; 68 FR 
28081, May 22, 2003; 73 FR 21798, Apr. 22, 2008; 
73 FR 67091, Nov. 12, 2008] 

9.407–3 Procedures. 
(a) Investigation and referral. Agencies 

shall establish procedures for the 
prompt reporting, investigation, and 
referral to the suspending official of 
matters appropriate for that official’s 
consideration. 

(b) Decisionmaking process. (1) Agen-
cies shall establish procedures gov-
erning the suspension decisionmaking 
process that are as informal as is prac-
ticable, consistent with principles of 
fundamental fairness. These procedures 
shall afford the contractor (and any 
specifically named affiliates) an oppor-
tunity, following the imposition of sus-
pension, to submit, in person, in writ-
ing, or through a representative, infor-
mation and argument in opposition to 
the suspension. 

(2) In actions not based on an indict-
ment, if it is found that the contrac-
tor’s submission in opposition raises a 
genuine dispute over facts material to 
the suspension and if no determination 
has been made, on the basis of Depart-
ment of Justice advice, that substan-
tial interests of the Government in 
pending or contemplated legal pro-
ceedings based on the same facts as the 
suspension would be prejudiced, agen-
cies shall also— 

(i) Afford the contractor an oppor-
tunity to appear with counsel, submit 
documentary evidence, present wit-
nesses, and confront any person the 
agency presents; and 

(ii) Make a transcribed record of the 
proceedings and make it available at 
cost to the contractor upon request, 
unless the contractor and the agency, 
by mutual agreement, waive the re-
quirement for a transcript. 

(c) Notice of suspension. When a con-
tractor and any specifically named af-
filiates are suspended, they shall be im-
mediately advised by certified mail, re-
turn receipt requested— 

(1) That they have been suspended 
and that the suspension is based on an 

VerDate Mar<15>2010 14:59 Dec 09, 2010 Jkt 220205 PO 00000 Frm 00197 Fmt 8010 Sfmt 8010 Y:\SGML\220205.XXX 220205w
w

oo
ds

2 
on

 D
S

K
1D

X
X

6B
1P

R
O

D
 w

ith
 C

F
R



188 

48 CFR Ch. 1 (10–1–10 Edition) 9.407–4 

indictment or other adequate evidence 
that the contractor has committed 
irregularities (i) of a serious nature in 
business dealings with the Government 
or (ii) seriously reflecting on the pro-
priety of further Government dealings 
with the contractor—any such irreg-
ularities shall be described in terms 
sufficient to place the contractor on 
notice without disclosing the Govern-
ment’s evidence; 

(2) That the suspension is for a tem-
porary period pending the completion 
of an investigation and such legal pro-
ceedings as may ensue; 

(3) Of the cause(s) relied upon under 
9.407–2 for imposing suspension; 

(4) Of the effect of the suspension; 
(5) That, within 30 days after receipt 

of the notice, the contractor may sub-
mit, in person, in writing, or through a 
representative, information and argu-
ment in opposition to the suspension, 
including any additional specific infor-
mation that raises a genuine dispute 
over the material facts; and 

(6) That additional proceedings to de-
termine disputed material facts will be 
conducted unless (i) the action is based 
on an indictment or (ii) a determina-
tion is made, on the basis of Depart-
ment of Justice advice, that the sub-
stantial interests of the Government in 
pending or contemplated legal pro-
ceedings based on the same facts as the 
suspension would be prejudiced. 

(d) Suspending official’s decision. (1) In 
actions (i) based on an indictment, (ii) 
in which the contractor’s submission 
does not raise a genuine dispute over 
material facts, or (iii) in which addi-
tional proceedings to determine dis-
puted material facts have been denied 
on the basis of Department of Justice 
advice, the suspending official’s deci-
sion shall be based on all the informa-
tion in the administrative record, in-
cluding any submission made by the 
contractor. 

(2)(i) In actions in which additional 
proceedings are necessary as to dis-
puted material facts, written findings 
of fact shall be prepared. The sus-
pending official shall base the decision 
on the facts as found, together with 
any information and argument sub-
mitted by the contractor and any other 
information in the administrative 
record. 

(ii) The suspending official may refer 
matters involving disputed material 
facts to another official for findings of 
fact. The suspending official may re-
ject any such findings, in whole or in 
part, only after specifically deter-
mining them to be arbitrary and capri-
cious or clearly erroneous. 

(iii) The suspending official’s deci-
sion shall be made after the conclusion 
of the proceedings with respect to dis-
puted facts. 

(3) The suspending official may mod-
ify or terminate the suspension or 
leave it in force (for example, see 9.406– 
4(c) for the reasons for reducing the pe-
riod or extent of debarment). However, 
a decision to modify or terminate the 
suspension shall be without prejudice 
to the subsequent imposition of (i) sus-
pension by any other agency or (ii) de-
barment by any agency. 

(4) Prompt written notice of the sus-
pending official’s decision shall be sent 
to the contractor and any affiliates in-
volved, by certified mail, return re-
ceipt requested. 

(e)(1) If the contractor enters into an 
administrative agreement with the 
Government in order to resolve a sus-
pension proceeding, the suspending of-
ficial shall access the website (avail-
able at www.cpars.csd.disa.mil, then se-
lect FAPIIS) and enter the requested 
information. 

(2) The suspending official is respon-
sible for the timely submission, within 
3 working days, and accuracy of the 
documentation regarding the adminis-
trative agreement. 

[48 FR 42142, Sept. 19, 1983, as amended at 51 
FR 2649, Jan. 17, 1986; 75 FR 14066, Mar. 23, 
2010] 

9.407–4 Period of suspension. 
(a) Suspension shall be for a tem-

porary period pending the completion 
of investigation and any ensuing legal 
proceedings, unless sooner terminated 
by the suspending official or as pro-
vided in this subsection. 

(b) If legal proceedings are not initi-
ated within 12 months after the date of 
the suspension notice, the suspension 
shall be terminated unless an Assistant 
Attorney General requests its exten-
sion, in which case it may be extended 
for an additional 6 months. In no event 
may a suspension extend beyond 18 
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